**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

RECEIVED
Mar 13 2025

Appeal from Charleston County
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Bentley Price, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Civil Case No. - 2016-CP-10-05379
Ct. App. Op. No. 6067, filed June 26, 2024
Sup. Ct. App. Case No. 2024-001377

The Estate of Delila Parrott,

Petitioner,

v.

Sandpiper Independent and Assisted Living-Delaware, LLC,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

REEVES & KEA, LLC
Paul L. Reeves (S.C. #4674)
John G. Boswell, *Of Counsel* (S.C. #778)
P.O. Box 11126
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
Phone: 803-920-0001
Fax: 803-929-0927
Email: paul@reeveskea.com

Todd R. Lyle (S.C. #102308)
The Lyle Law Firm, LLC

STATEMENT OF THE QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that Sandpiper owed no legal duty to Ms. Parrott where the Trial Judge correctly stated and applied the law in concluding that Sandpiper undertook/assumed a duty of care to its Resident to conduct a daily check where the evidence shows that (1) Sandpiper had an established policy of conducting daily wellness checks; (2) Sandpiper affirmatively represented the existence of that policy to Ms. Parrott; and (3) Ms. Parrott relied upon the policy in choosing to enter into a lease?
- A. Did the Court of Appeals err in its consideration of the written protocol/procedure as an internal policy that could not create a duty of care?
- B. Did the Court of Appeals err in its finding that there was no evidence that Ms. Parrott's harm was caused by her reliance on the daily check policy?
- II. Did the Court of Appeals err in reversing the Trial Judge's judgment and damages award to the Estate because the Court of Appeals ignored the proper "any evidence" standard of review of the verdict rendered by the Trial Judge sitting as the fact finder in the place of a jury?

REMAINING ISSUES RAISED ON APPEAL BUT NOT ADDRESSED BY THE COURT OF APPEALS¹

- III. Is there any evidence of record to support the Trial Judge's finding that the Defendant breached the duty owed to Plaintiff's decedent by failing to conduct a daily wellness check on June 4 and 5th?

¹ In some cases where an opinion of the Court of Appeals is reversed, this Court will address the remaining issues rather than remand unaddressed issues to the Court of Appeals "in the interest of bringing finality to this litigation." Roche v. Young Bros., of Florence, 332 S.C. 75, 83, 504 S.E.2d 311, 315 (1998).

- IV. Is there is any evidence of record to support the Trial Judge's finding that that the Defendant's failure to conduct daily wellness checks was a proximate cause of injury to the Plaintiff's decedent and a proximate cause contributing to her death?
- V. Is there is any evidence of record to support the Trial Judge's rejection of Sandpiper's comparative negligence defense?
- VI. Is there is any evidence of record to support the amount of the Trial Judge's award of damages on the survival and wrongful death causes of action?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a negligence action brought on behalf of the Estate of Delila Parrott, a former resident of Sandpiper Independent and Assisted Living, arising from a three-day period in June 2014, during which Ms. Parrott laid on the floor of her apartment after she fell and suffered a broken hip. A complaint originally was filed on October 11, 2016, asserting survival and wrongful death cause of actions against Sandpiper based on Sandpiper's failure to conduct daily wellness checks. [R.p. 035 ¶ 17.] An amended (second) complaint was filed on December 11, 2019. [R.p. 056.] Sandpiper served its answer to the amended (second) complaint on December 26, 2019, denying that it owed any duty to Ms. Parrott and further denying that it breached any duty that proximately caused any injury to her. [R.p. 067.] Sandpiper also asserted affirmative defenses of assumption of the risk and comparative negligence. [R.pp. 071-072 ¶¶ 25, 28.]

By agreement of the parties, the case was tried on the merits before the Circuit Court Judge, sitting without a jury. [R.p. 001; R.p. 121:21-22.] The trial was conducted on September 8 - 10, 2020. [R.pp. 075-632.] At the conclusion of the trial, the Trial Judge rendered a verdict in favor of the Plaintiff and awarded actual damages of \$500,000 on the survival claim and \$500,000 on the wrongful death claim. [R.p. 631:12-16.] A formal order was filed October 16, 2020. [R.p. 003.] Defendant Sandpiper filed a post-trial motion for reconsideration on October 26, 2020, which was denied by Order, filed November 18, 2020. [R.p. 773; R.p. 026.] Sandpiper served a notice of appeal on December 17, 2020. [R.p. 1161.]

After briefing and oral argument, the Court of Appeals issued its opinion on June 26, 2024, reversing the judgment entered on the Trial Court's verdict. [App. 1.] Est. of Parrott v. Sandpiper Indep. & Assisted Living-Delaware, LLC, 443 S.C. 405, 904 S.E.2d 455 (Ct. App. 2024). A Petition for Rehearing was timely made on Jul 11 2024, and ruled upon by the Court of Appeals

on July 24, 2024. [App. 16; App. 37.] This Court granted the Petition for a Writ of Certiorari by Order of February 12, 2025.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

As noted above, the parties consented for this matter to be tried nonjury with the Trial Judge sitting as the finder of fact. After a three-day trial, the Trial Judge issued a detailed, formal order setting forth his findings of fact² and conclusions of law with references to the supporting evidence admitted at trial and to the applicable caselaw. Each and all of the Trial Judge's findings of fact are supported by evidence of record as documented by the Record on Appeal page and line number references as provided in the Brief of Respondent filed in the Court of Appeals and set forth below.

Background Facts

The Trial Judge's Finding of Fact 1 addresses the nature of the Sandpiper facility and the lease with Ms. Parrott:

Sandpiper is in Mt. Pleasant, South Carolina and offers an independent living lifestyle to the senior residents who lease the apartments. Under the lease agreement, Sandpiper promised each resident two meals per day, resident activities, transportation to and from the facility and social events. Delila Parrott signed a lease for an independent living apartment on April 26, 2013. [R.p. 006 ¶ 1.]

This finding of fact is supported by the testimony of Sandpiper's Director, Corrine Carrington, and the lease agreement. [R.pp.156-217 – testimony; R.p. 1124-1134 - Pl. Ex. 1 Lease.]

The Trial Judge's Finding of Fact 2 addresses certain basic biographical information as to Ms. Parrott, including her age, her work history, her family relationships, and her physical and mental health which evidences that at the time she signed the lease with Sandpiper, Ms. Parrott was a 79-year-old widow who was living a normal life as an active and healthy senior:

² For clarification, there are no findings of fact numbered as 8 or 14.

Ms. Parrott was born on April 20, 1934. At the time she signed the lease with Sandpiper, she was a 79-year-old widow who had lived alone after the death of her second husband. She had enjoyed a 35-year career as a nurse anesthetist before she retired. She had three children. Her daughters were Joan Acosta and June Connor, and she had a son, Bert Christopher. Joan testified that all the children were close to Ms. Parrott, how much they loved each other, and describe how Ms. Parrott's death impacted them. As testified to by her attending physician, she was in excellent physical health for her age. According to the actuary tables, she had a life expectancy of eighty-nine years. While she had a prior history of mental health issues five years previous to her fall, those conditions were well under control, allowing her to live a healthy, active and normal live. By all accounts, she lived a normal life as an active and healthy senior. [R.p. 006 ¶ 2.]

This finding of fact is supported by the testimony of Ms. Parrott's daughter and her attending physician Dr. Mills. [R.pp. 099-142 (Daughter); R.pp. 355:8-385:6 (physician).] Ms. Parrott's age and personal history were established by testimony of daughter, Joan Acosta. [R.pp. 099-154.] Her medical history and health status were established by testimony of her attending physician, Richard Mills, M.D, who opined that she was doing well for someone of her age, and she had no medical conditions that would have shortened her life expectancy. [R.pp. 361:13-362:21.] The actuary table establishes her life expectancy. [R.pp. 363:12-364:4.]

Facts Regarding Sandpiper's Daily Check Policy and Procedure

The Plaintiff's negligence claims rest on the core/central fact that Sandpiper had an established policy of conducting daily checks to confirm the wellbeing of the independent living residents, such as Ms. Parrott. Although Sandpiper denied the existence of any such a policy in its pleadings and discovery responses and deposition testimony, the existence of the policy was proven, beyond dispute, by a Sandpiper document produced on the eve of trial³ which explicitly states: "DAILY CHECK SHEET: All residents must be seen by staff and initialed

³ See Finding of Fact 10 regarding Sandpiper's refusal to admit the existence of the policy until four days prior to trial. [R.p. 009 ¶11.]

off every day. If you do not see someone call them, if you can't get them on the phone, go to the apartment and check on them.”⁴ [R.p. 1135-1140 - Pl. Ex. 1.] The Trial Judge addressed the existence of the policy in his Finding of Fact 11:

11. The wellness check policy existed during the time that Parrott became a resident of Sandpiper. The Policy was in writing and was known to all staff and all residents. The policy required that the Sandpiper staff confirm each resident's wellbeing once every 24 hours. [*Supra* note 3.] It appears, that as a general procedure, these checks were conducted during the afternoon/evening.] The Policy required staff to mark or initial each resident's name on a list once the resident was seen by staff. If the resident had not been seen, then staff was to call the resident's apartment and confirm the resident's wellbeing if the resident answered the telephone. If the resident did not answer the telephone, then staff was to go to the resident's apartment and knock on the door. If the door knock was not answered, staff would then use a duplicate key and enter the apartment to check on the resident. At previous times, these wellness check records were maintained by Sandpiper. However, Sandpiper never produced any record of the wellness check sheets for the three days in issue. [R.p. 009 ¶ 11.]

The Trial Judge's Finding of Fact 3 addresses information about Sandpiper's daily check policy that was provided by Sandpiper's executive director to Ms. Parrott (and her daughter) when she was considering entering into a lease agreement:

3. Prior to signing the lease with Sandpiper, Ms. Parrott and her daughter (Joan Acosta) met with the Executive Director of Sandpiper, Corrine Carrington, more than once to gain information about Sandpiper's apartments and amenities. During one of those meetings, Carrington told Ms. Parrott and Acosta prior to Ms. Parrott signing the lease, that Sandpiper had a policy to check on each resident daily. After hearing about the policy, Ms. Parrott signed the lease. Ms. Parrott relied on the representations of Carrington regarding the Policy in making the decision to enter into the lease agreement at Sandpiper because she wanted to live independently but also wanted a place where she would be checked on regularly. The existence of the policy, the details of the policy and its implementation, together with Sandpiper's breach of that policy are each discussed in more detail below. [R.p. 007 ¶¶ 4-5.]

⁴ A Sandpiper employee (Beth Auld) testified that the policy had been in effect for approximately 25 years. [R.pp. 219:1-220:19.]

Both the testimony of Ms. Parrott's daughter and the testimony of Sandpiper's executive director support the finding as to what the executive director told Ms. Parrott and/or her daughter about the daily check policy before the lease was signed. Ms. Acosta, the Daughter, testified that:

Q. Tell the Court what, if anything, Ms. Carrington said about the policy.

A. About the policies, specifically?

Q. Yes.

A. They had a 24-hour visualization of every resident policy. Now, they did not necessarily see every resident every 24 hours. They would call the ones that were not visualized during that day. They had a sign-off sheet, and every resident was to be checked off every day at the time you've been seen or checked.

Q. Was that policy important to you?

A. It was paramount to me, absolutely. I was in Columbia. I was counting on that 24-hour check policy.

Q. And Ms. Carrington told your mother at the same time that she told you about this policy?

A. Yes. I mean, it was very much part of our first meeting. [R.p. 108:16-23.]

The testimony of Ms. Carrington, Sandpiper's executive director at that time, confirms Ms. Acosta's testimony of the substance of that policy:

Q. Ms. Carrington, when you met with Joan Acosta and her mother, Delilah Parrott, before Ms. Parrott became a resident there, do you recall discussing with them a policy that Sandpiper had regarding the visual confirmation of the wellbeing or presence of each resident on a daily basis?

A. I believe it was with just Ms. Acosta -- and I could be wrong, but I think she toured first by herself and then brought Ms. Parrott over later.

Q. Could you tell the Court what the policy was in regards to what Sandpiper promised to do for each of the residents on a daily basis?

A. We check the residents daily, make sure we saw them. If we hadn't seen the residents by a certain time at night, we were to be calling them. If they didn't answer their phone, we should be going to the units to check on them, to make sure we saw them. [R.pp. 158:24 -159:17.]

Facts Regarding Sandpiper’s Failure to Follow its Daily Check Policy and Procedure

As found by the Trial Judge, testimony establishes that Sandpiper did not follow its policy. The Trial Judge’s findings on this pivotal fact are set forth in detail and supported by ample evidence to meet the any evidence standard.

In his Finding of Fact 4, the Trial Judge recounts the basic facts of Ms. Parrott’s fall on June 3 and Sandpiper’s failure to check on her for three days:

On the evening of June 3, 2014, while hanging a curtain in her apartment, Ms. Parrott fell and broke her hip. She was rendered immobile, unable to reach her phone. No one on Sandpiper’s staff checked on Ms. Parrott at any time the next day on June 4th. No one checked on her on June 5th. No one checked on her until approximately 8 p.m. on June 6th, when she was found by a staffer and another resident, Lila Waters. [R.p. 007 ¶ 5.]

The timing and circumstances of Ms. Parrott’s fall are supported by the EMS and hospital records⁵ and Sandpiper’s own record, which included Ms. Carrington’s notes/report of the incident as relayed by Ms. Parrott after she was found. [R.p 169:23-25; R.p. 1055 - Pl. Ex. 1 Mills Record.] Sandpiper’s failure to conduct a check of Ms. Parrott for three days is supported by the testimony of its employees and other witnesses as referenced by the Trial Judge in his written findings.⁶

June 4: The Trial Judge found that Sandpiper did not check on Ms. Parrott on June 4th:

⁵ The EMS record and timeline records indicate that Ms. Parrott herself reported that she fell on Tuesday, June 3. [R.p. 1055 - Pl. Ex. 1 Mills Records; R.p. 881.]

⁶ Sandpiper criticized the Trial Judge’s comprehension of the timeline with reference to the Trial Judge’s mention during the trial that Ms. Parrott laid on the floor for five days. [See Appellant’s Brief, p. 3-4 n.9.] However, transcript reflects that the Plaintiff’s counsel promptly apprised the Trial Judge that the period was three days. [R.p. 626:9-22.] Moreover, the written order controls regardless of the Judge’s verbal comments from the bench at trial. See Ford v. State Ethics Comm’n, 344 S.C. 642, 646, 545 S.E.2d 821, 823 (2001) (“The written order is the trial judge’s final order and as such constitutes the final judgment of the court.”)

[FOF] 12. The testimony establishes that Sandpiper did not follow the Policy. Although there is no evidence as to Tuesday, June 3rd, the Plaintiff does not contend that Sandpiper breached its duty to check on that day. However, the Plaintiff alleges and proved by a preponderance of evidence that Sandpiper breached its duty on Wednesday, June 4th. On June 4th, Ms. Parrott had not been seen by staff, so a staff member (Munoz) called her, then receiving no answer, Munoz went to Ms. Parrott's apartment to check on her. When Ms. Parrott failed to answer the door Munoz attempted to open the door but had realized she did not have the correct key. The correct key was in the possession of Sandpiper at the time Parrott fell and was accessible to Sandpiper the entire time Parrott was on the floor. However, when Munoz determined that she had the wrong key, she did not return the very short distance [fn. 4 - Ms. Parrott's apartment was situated within about a thirty second walk from where the Sandpiper's office was located.] to retrieve the correct key from the office. Even though Ms. Parrott had not been checked on as required by the policy, Munoz simply completed her shift and went home. I find that Sandpiper did not conduct a wellness check of Ms. Parrott on June 4th. [R.p. 010 ¶ 12.]

This finding of facts is more than amply supported by the testimony of Rebecca Munoz, the Sandpiper receptionist. She testified as to the Sandpiper policy of visually confirming the presence or the wellbeing of each resident on a daily basis and admitted that she never completed a check of Ms. Parrott on June 4th. [R.pp. 276:15-277:6.] Ms. Munoz testified that she had not visually confirmed Ms. Parrott's condition that day, and so she followed the procedure by first attempting to call her, but she did not get an answer. [R.p. 276:20-25.] By her own testimony, the facts establish that: Munoz then went to the apartment and knocked but no one answered; when she attempted to enter the apartment, the master key did not work; and she did not make any effort to go back to the office to obtain a copy of Ms. Parrott's key. [R.pp 277:7-278:7.]

June 5: The Trial Judge found that Sandpiper did not check on Ms. Parrott on June 5th:

[FOF] 13. Sandpiper introduced evidence through the testimony of Beth Auld that Ms. Parrott was checked off as having been seen on Thursday June 5th by Auld. However, at trial, Ms. Auld testified that she could not truthfully testify that she remembered seeing Ms. Parrott on Thursday or whether another staff member told Auld they had seen Parrott. Executive Director Carrington testified that when she investigated the incident after the fact, no other staff members, including the kitchen and cafeteria staff and the activities director, reported having seen Ms. Parrott on Thursday June 5th. I find that Sandpiper did not check on Ms. Parrott on

June 5th. Lila Waters, a resident of Sandpiper, testified about her meal and activity routines with Ms. Parrott. She said she ate with Ms. Parrott each day, but that she did not see Ms. Parrott on Wednesday, Thursday, or Friday, until Waters and the staff found Ms. Parrott in her apartment at or about 8 p.m. While Ms. Waters may have been confused as to certain details, I find her testimony credible as it relates to her routine with Ms. Parrott to eat meals together and her testimony that she did not see Ms. Parrott for any meals on the days in question. [R.p. 011 ¶ 13.]

As referenced by the Trial Judge, Sandpiper tried to establish that Ms. Parrott was seen on June 5th, by Sandpiper employee, Beth Auld. Ms. Carrington, the Sandpiper director, did testify that after they found Ms. Parrott, she conducted an investigation and reviewed the daily checkoff sheet and she saw that it contained Beth's initials indicating that she had seen Ms. Parrott on June 5th. [R.p. 202:17-20.] However, Sandpiper never produced any of the daily checkoff sheets for the days in question, and while Ms. Auld did testify at trial, she admitted that she did not have any independent recollection of seeing Ms. Parrott that day. [R.p. 222:20-25.] In contrast to the unverified/unsubstantiated testimony of the Sandpiper employees, another Sandpiper resident, Ms. Lila Waters, who was a close friend of Ms. Parrott and regularly dined with her, testified that she never saw Ms. Parrott on June 5th. [R.p. 663:11-14.]

June 6: The timing of Ms. Parrott's discovery on the evening of June 6th, is established by Sandpiper's records and the medical records. [R.p. 806 - Pl. Ex. 1 Carrington; R.p. 1058 - Mills Records.]

Facts Regarding the "Long Lie"⁷

This time of lying after a fall is referred to by the medical expert and used throughout this case as a "long lie:"

A long lie, is very simply when a person falls and can't get up and when they're unable to call for help and, unfortunately, the result is they are on the ground in a helpless situation for many hours or sometimes many days." [R.p. 714:7-21.]

⁷ "Long lie" is the term used by the medical experts to denote the time that Ms. Parrott laid on the floor after her fall. [See R.p. 008; see also R.p. 553:17, R.p. 86:9-18.]

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