RECEIVED

Apr 24 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Charleston County
Court of Common Pleas

Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2016-CP-10-05379
Appellate Case No. 2024-001377

The Estate of Delila Parrott,

Petitioner,

v.

Sandpiper Independent and Assisted Living-Delaware, LLC,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

CLEMENT RIVERS, LLP
Stephen L. Brown (SC Bar No. 66468)
D. Jay Davis, Jr. (SC Bar No. 12084)
Matthew O. Riddle (SC Bar No. 76650)
Russell G. Hines (SC Bar No. 72100)
Graydon V. Olive, IV (SC Bar No. 105319)
25 Calhoun Street, Suite 400
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
P.O. Box 993 (29402)
(843) 720-5488

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals properly found that Sandpiper owed no legal duty to Ms. Parrott.

Section 15-51-10 of the South Carolina Code creates a cause of action to recover damages for the wrongful death of a person. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-51-10. “[T]he plaintiff in a wrongful death action must establish that the wrongful act or negligence of the defendant caused the death of the decedent.” *Land v. Green Tree Servicing, LLC*, 140 F. Supp. 3d 539, 545 (D.S.C. 2015). “[T]o establish a claim for

negligence, a plaintiff must show: (1) the defendant owes a duty of care to the plaintiff; (2) defendant breached the duty by a negligent act or omission; (3) defendant's breach was the actual or proximate cause of the plaintiff's injury; and (4) plaintiff suffered an injury or damages.” *Doe ex rel. Doe v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 393 S.C. 240, 246, 711 S.E.2d 908, 911 (2011).

“First, the court must determine, as a matter of law, whether the law recognizes a particular duty.” *Id.* “If there is no duty, the defendant is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” *Id.* Moreover, “if no duty has been established, evidence as to the standard of care is irrelevant.” *Id.* at 247, 711 S.E.2d at 912. “Only when there is a duty would a standard of care need to be established.” *Id.*

Under South Carolina law, “there is no general duty to control the conduct of another.” *Madison ex rel. Bryant v. Babcock Ctr., Inc.*, 371 S.C. 123, 136, 638 S.E.2d 650, 656 (2006). In this case, the only relevant exception to that rule is “where the defendant voluntarily undertakes a duty.” *Id.* South Carolina courts have consistently cited section 323 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts when addressing this exception.

One who undertakes, gratuitously or for consideration, to render services to another which he should recognize as necessary for the protection of the other's person or things, is subject to liability to the other for physical harm resulting from his failure to exercise reasonable care to perform his undertaking, if (a) his failure to exercise such care increases the risk of such harm, or (b) *the harm is suffered because of the other's reliance upon the undertaking.*

Id. at 136, 638 S.E.2d at 657 (emphasis added) (quoting Restatement (Second) of Torts § 323 (Am. L. Inst. 1965)).

A. The Court of Appeals properly found that internal policies, standing alone, cannot establish the voluntary undertaking of a duty.

“[I]nternal policies do not establish a voluntary undertaking of a duty; rather, they can only serve as evidence of the standard of care if the duty was established by law.” *Doe 2 v. Citadel*, 421 S.C. 140, 148, 805 S.E.2d 578, 583 (Ct. App. 2017); *see also Wal-Mart*, 393 S.C. at 248, 711 S.E.2d at 912 (finding that an “internal policy cannot be said to constitute the voluntary undertaking of a duty. Rather, it could simply serve as evidence of the standard of care, *once that duty was established by law.*” (emphasis added)).

The Court of Appeals correctly applied relevant authority and determined that internal policies on their own cannot establish the voluntary undertaking of a duty. Petitioner attempts to put the cart before the horse and use Sandpiper’s alleged deviation from its internal policy as evidence that it owed Ms. Parrot a duty. Our state’s case law makes clear that violations of internal policies are only relevant in determining whether there is a breach of duty, not the existence of a duty. If there is no duty, then deviations from internal policies are irrelevant because one cannot breach a duty that does not exist. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals did not err in finding that the mere existence of Sandpiper’s internal policy could not establish its

voluntary undertaking of a duty. *See id.* at 248, 711 S.E.2d at 912 (“We also hold Wal-Mart did not voluntarily undertake a duty. It is undisputed that Wal-Mart created an internal policy that was subsequently violated However, this internal policy cannot be said to constitute the voluntary undertaking of a duty. Rather, it could simply serve as evidence of the standard of care, once that duty was established by law.”). The same holds true in this case. Sandpiper did not undertake a duty to Ms. Parrott.

B. The Court of Appeals properly found that Ms. Parrott’s harm was not caused by her reliance on Sandpiper’s daily check policy.

One is liable for the physical harm of another if they fail to exercise reasonable care in performing a duty voluntarily undertaken and “(a) [the] failure to exercise such care increases the risk of such harm, or (b) the harm is suffered because of the other’s reliance upon the undertaking.” Restatement (Second) of Torts § 323 (Am. L. Inst. 1965). The Court of Appeals aptly explained why Petitioner’s reliance on *Wright v. PRG Real Estate Mgmt., Inc.*⁸ is misplaced. In *Wright*, an apartment complex gave law enforcement officers a discounted rent if they agreed to be a courtesy officer for the apartment complex. 426 S.C. at 207, 826 S.E.2d at 287. The courtesy officers were required to walk the property, answer calls from tenants, and report to the property manager daily. *Id.*

⁸ 426 S.C. 202, 826 S.E.2d 285 (2019).

The plaintiff in *Wright* was the victim of an armed robbery in the apartment complex's parking lot. *Id.* at 207–09, 826 S.E.2d at 287–88. Prior to moving into the apartment complex, a manager told the plaintiff there were security officers on duty, even though an internal employee manual instructed employees not to inform residents that the complex provided security. *Id.* at 206, 826 S.E.2d at 287. The South Carolina Supreme Court held that summary judgment was inappropriate because there were genuine issues of material fact regarding the analyses of section 323 (a) and (b) that a jury needed to resolve. 426 S.C. at 221, 826 S.e.2d at 295.

The Court of Appeals properly distinguished *Wright* from this case by noting the record in *Wright* contained conflicting evidence as to whether the plaintiff relied on the courtesy officer program and whether plaintiff's harm arose from that reliance, thus rendering summary judgment inappropriate. *Parrott*, 443 S.C. at 421–23, 904 S.E.2d at 464–65. The Court of Appeals also noted that the *Wright* court was not asked to address or consider whether the courtesy officer program constituted an internal policy, and the *Wright* court empathized that its holding was tailored to the narrow facts of that case. *Id.* at 422, 904 S.E.2d at 464.

The Court of Appeals properly found that no evidence supported the circuit court's conclusion that Ms. Parrott suffered the harm from her "long lie" by relying on Sandpiper's daily check policy. The record contains no evidence that Ms. Parrott decided to live at Sandpiper due to its daily check-in policy. The record also contains

no evidence that Ms. Parrott decided to hang curtains while standing on a rocking chair in reliance on the daily check-in policy. Such would be illogical. On the other hand, the record contains ample evidence of Ms. Parrott's aversion to the daily check-in policy, which undermines Petitioner's argument that Ms. Parrot's harm was caused by her reliance on the daily check policy. *Id.* at 412, 904 S.E.2d at 459 (noting that Sandpiper staff described Ms. Parrott as "very private" and that Ms. Parrott told Sandpiper staff she was "fearful of people coming in [her apartment] without her knowledge).

Because the circuit court made no finding under section 323(a), it is irrelevant whether Sandpiper's alleged failure to exercise due care in performing the check-in policy increased Ms. Parrott's risk of harm. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals properly found that no evidence supported that Ms. Parrott's harm was caused by her reliance on Sandpiper's daily check-in policy. As such, Sandpiper did not owe Ms. Parrott a duty under the circumstances presented.

II. The Court of Appeals applied the correct standard of review.

"Wrongful death and survival actions are actions at law." *See Longshore v. Saber Sec. Servs., Inc.*, 365 S.C. 554, 560, 619 S.E.2d 5, 9 (Ct. App. 2005) ("An action in tort for damages is an action at law."); S.C. Code Ann. § 15-51-10 (2005) (establishing the wrongful death cause of action as "an action for damages."). "In an action at law tried by a judge without a jury, the appellate court will correct any

error of law, but it must affirm the trial court's factual findings *unless no evidence reasonably supports those findings.*” *Frazier v. Smallseed*, 384 S.C. 56, 61, 682 S.E.2d 8, 11 (Ct. App. 2009) (per curiam) (emphasis added).

Contrary to Petitioner’s arguments, the Court of Appeals did not ignore the findings of the circuit court. Instead, the Court of Appeals found the record contained “no evidence supporting the circuit court's conclusion that [Ms.] Parrott suffered the harm from her long lie because of her reliance on Sandpiper's check-in policy.” *Parrott*, 443 S.C. at 422, 904 S.E.2d at 464. Issues of law are reviewed without any particular deference to the trial court. *Frazier*, 384 S.C. at 61, 682 S.E.2d at 11. A trial court’s findings are properly reversed where no evidence reasonably supports them. *Id.* Therefore, the Court of Appeals applied the correct standard of review in reversing the trial court.

III. Sandpiper’s failure to conduct the daily check-in did not cause Ms. Parrott’s injuries and death.

“Negligence is not actionable unless it is a proximate cause of the injuries, and it may be deemed a proximate cause only when without such negligence the injury would not have occurred or could have been avoided.” *Hughes v. Children’s Clinic, P. A.*, 269 S.C. 389, 398, 237 S.E.2d 753, 757 (1977). “When one relies solely upon the opinion of medical experts to establish a causal connection between the alleged negligence and the injury, *the experts must, with reasonable certainty, state that in their professional opinion, the injuries complained of most probably resulted from the*

defendant's negligence." *Ellis v. Oliver*, 323 S.C. 121, 125, 473 S.E.2d 793, 795 (1996) (emphasis added); *see also id.* (explaining that when expert testimony is the only evidence of proximate cause relied upon, the testimony "must provide a significant causal link between the alleged negligence and the plaintiff's injuries, rather than a tenuous and hypothetical connection.").

Because Petitioner's theory rests solely on Sandpiper's alleged breach of a duty to conduct the daily check-in on June 4 and 5, Petitioner concedes that Sandpiper is not responsible for the fall itself and any resulting damages from the fall or the first twenty-four hours Ms. Parrott spent on the floor. Accordingly, the only damages recoverable under Petitioner's theory are those that can be proved beyond speculation⁹ to have been suffered by Ms. Parrott from approximately hour twenty-five until she was found. To then allow such tortured reasoning (with a lack of supporting law) to give rise to wrongful death and survival actions five months after Ms. Parrott made a full recovery and eight months after her "long lie" would obviate all causation requirements in an action where someone later dies. This is especially true when the case involves an eighty-year-old with significant mental and other issues unrelated to the so called "long lie."

The circuit court did not recognize the undeniable fact that Petitioner's theory of the case necessarily concedes that it was not until Ms. Parrott had already

⁹ *See The Huffines Co., LLC v. Lockhart*, 365 S.C. 178, 188, 617 S.E.2d 125, 130.

suffered a “long lie” *plus approximately one whole day* that Petitioner even attempts to point any finger of blame at Sandpiper. And even then, Petitioner cannot say that Sandpiper “created” any harm to Ms. Parrott. Rather Petitioner asserts that had Sandpiper done something it was under no obligation to do, the harm Ms. Parrott created for herself would have been discovered sooner; not that it would not have occurred.

With respect to wrongful death in particular, Petitioner’s theory requires her to prove (by presenting medical expert testimony from which a reasonable, non-speculative conclusion can be reached, *see Hughes*, 269 S.C. at 398, 237 S.E.2d at 757; *Ellis*, 323 S.C. at 125, 473 S.E.2d at 795) that Ms. Parrott’s death was, to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, most probably caused not just by “delay” in discovering her, but specifically by the delay from approximately hour twenty-five (or more) on. In other words, Petitioner’s experts needed to testify that, to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, had Ms. Parrott only been lying there from when she fell on the “evening” of Tuesday, June 3, 2014, until about 8:00 p.m. on Wednesday, June 4, 2014, she most probably would not have died eight months later. The record contains no such testimony.

Petitioner’s experts’ testimony falls short of the “most probable”/reasonable degree of medical certainty standard that is required to substantiate a non-speculative causal relationship between the alleged negligence and Ms. Parrott’s

death. They could not quantify the significance of the length of Ms. Parrott's "long lie" and admitted *they could not say at what point the hours would have supposedly caused her to lose her will to live and ultimately die eight months later.*

The testimony of Petitioner's expert Dr. Lawrence Bergmann, offered as an expert in trauma and its impact, was presented via *de benne esse* deposition. (R. p. 711:24 – p. 712:2.) Dr. Bergmann recognized that Ms. Parrott had a serious pre-existing psychological condition that required her hospitalization in 2009 for delusional parasitosis, i.e., for her delusional belief that insects were infesting her body by crawling into her bodily orifices and laying eggs. Ms. Parrott's delusional belief progressed to the point that she was using duct tape to cover her body to keep the insects out and, indeed, to the point that Ms. Parrott's medical records from the time reflect suicidal ideation, with Ms. Parrott having formulated a plan to take her own life by overdosing on pain medication. (R. p. 735:21 – p. 737:2.) While Dr. Bergmann believed that Ms. Parrott's symptoms seemed to have been "managed fairly well" going forward,¹⁰ he did acknowledge that Ms. Parrott had continued to experience delusions in the weeks and months leading up to the fall in June of 2014. (R. p. 737:16-19.) Dr. Bergmann also acknowledged that Ms.

¹⁰ (R. p. 733:21 – p. 736:4.)

Parrott's vision was adversely impacted by macular degeneration¹¹ and that she had previously suffered mini strokes. (R. p. 738:3-15.)

With regard to the "long lie," how long it was, and what its effect was on Ms. Parrott at what point in time, Dr. Bergmann provided no testimony that could reasonably support finding Sandpiper liable for Ms. Parrott's wrongful death:

Q. Now, with regard to the delay, the alleged delay in finding M[s]. Parrott, you don't know how long she lay on the ground after this fall, do you?

A. No, I don't.

(R. p. 745:6-10; *see also* R. p. 746:9-11 ("I know there are several different scenarios [as to when the fall occurred] and I'm not at a place to judge which scenario might be accurate.")) Indeed, Dr. Bergmann does a nice job of helping to make *Sandpiper's* point:

Q. I'll read this [excerpt from your prior deposition] and you can just tell me if I have read it correctly. Question: Do you intend to provide the opinion at trial that her decline and death would not have occurred but for some alleged delay in finding her? Answer: *I don't think there's anybody that can say that.* Did I read that correctly?

A. Yes.

¹¹ (R. p. 735:15-20.)

(R. p. 742:6-13 (emphasis added); *see also* R. p. 743:16-19 (“Q. All right. So just to be clear, your opinion is the same today as it was at the time I took your deposition? A. I think so.”).)

Q. [Y]ou’re not able to state with any specificity the degree of difference it would have made in terms of her alleged psychological decline between one scenario and the other [(i.e., between when Plaintiff claims the fall occurred and when Defendant claims the fall occurred)]?

A. Oh, I think I might be able to do that. I think if she had expected to be rescued because people may or may not have been checking on her, the more time went by the more helpless she would have been and the more desperate she might have been as well. *Now, where exactly what that time frame is, I don’t think I can really describe that. I don’t think anybody else can either.*

Q. You don’t know what difference precisely it would have made in her psychological decline between a period of time lying on the ground for 24 hours after the fall versus 48 hours?

A. *No, I’m not so concerned about that number.*

(R. p. 746:21 – p. 747:12 (emphasis added).)

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